

Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia Goiano – Campus Urutaí Programa de Pós-Graduação em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado

TOXICITY INDUCED BY INGESTION OF NATURALLY-AGED MICROPLASTICS BY A SMALL-SIZED TERRESTRIAL BIRD AND ITS POTENTIAL ROLE AS VECTORS FOR THE DISPERSION OF THESE POLLUTANTS

SINDOVAL SILVA DE SOUZA

Orientador(a): Prof. Dr. Guilherme Malafaia Pinto

Urutaí, 15 de março de <mark>20</mark>22



Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia Goiano

Reitor

Prof. Dr. Elias de Pádua Monteiro Pró-Reitor de Pesquisa e Pós-Graduação e Inovação Prof. Dr. Alan Carlos da Costa

Campus Urutaí

Diretor Geral Prof. Dr. Paulo César Ribeiro Cunha Diretor de Pesquisa, Pós-Graduação e Inovação Prof. Dr. Anderson Rodrigo da Silva

Programa de Pós-Graduação em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado

Coordenador Prof. Dr. Daniel de Paiva Silva

Urutaí, 15 de março de 2022

SINDOVAL SILVA DE SOUZA

TOXICITY INDUCED BY INGESTION OF NATURALLY-AGED MICROPLASTICS BY A SMALL-SIZED TERRESTRIAL BIRD AND ITS POTENTIAL ROLE AS VECTORS FOR THE DISPERSION OF THESE POLLUTANTS

Orientador(a) Prof. Dr. Guilherme Malafaia Pinto

> Dissertação apresentada ao Instituto Federal Goiano – Campus Urutaí, como parte das exigências do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado para obtenção do título de Mestre.

Urutaí (GO) 2022 Os direitos de tradução e reprodução reservados.

Nenhuma parte desta publicação poderá ser gravada, armazenada em sistemas eletrônicos, fotocopiada ou reproduzida por meios mecânicos ou eletrônicos ou utilizada sem a observância das normas de direito autoral.

ISSN XX-XXX-XXX

Sistema desenvolvido pelo ICMC/USP Dados Internacionais de Catalogação na Publicação (CIP) Sistema Integrado de Bibliotecas - Instituto Federal Goiano

Souza, Sindoval Silva de Souza SD585t TOXICITY INDUCED BY INGESTION OF NATURALLY-AGED MICROPLASTICS BY A SMALL-SIZED TERRESTRIAL BIRD AND ITS POTENTIAL ROLE AS VECTORS FOR THE DISPERSION OF THESE POLLUTANTS / Sindoval Silva de Souza Souza; orientador Guilherme Malafaia Pinto Malafaia Pinto. -- Urutaí, 2022. 49 p. Dissertação (Mestrado em Mestrado Profissional em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado) --Instituto Federal Goiano, Campus Urutaí, 2022. 1. Micropollutants. 2. Ecotoxicology. 3.

Avifauna. 4. Biochemistry. 5. Environmental impact. I. Malafaia Pinto, Guilherme Malafaia Pinto, orient. II. Título.

Responsável: Johnathan Pereira Alves Diniz - Bibliotecário-Documentalista CRB-1 nº2376



Repositório Institucional do IF Goiano - RIIF Goiano Sistema Integrado de Bibliotecas

TERMO DE CIÊNCIA E DE AUTORIZAÇÃO PARA DISPONIBILIZAR PRODUÇÕES TÉCNICO-CIENTÍFICAS NO REPOSITÓRIO INSTITUCIONAL DO IF GOIANO

Com base no disposto na Lei Federal nº 9.610/98, AUTORIZO o Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia Goiano, a disponibilizar gratuitamente o documento no Repositório Institucional do IF Goiano (RIIF Goiano), sem ressarcimento de direitos autorais, conforme permissão assinada abaixo, em formato digital para fins de leitura, download e impressão, a título de divulgação da produção técnico-científica no IF Goiano.

Identificação da Produção Técnico-Científica

[]	Tese
-----	------

[] Artigo Científico

[X] Dissertação

- [] Capítulo de Livro
- [] Monografia Especialização
- Livro
 Trabalho Apresentado em Evento

- TCC Graduação
- Produto Técnico e Educacional Tipo: _____

Nome Completo do Autor: Sindoval Silva de Souza

Matricula:2021101330940125

Título do Trabalho: Toxicity induced via ingestion of naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics by a smallsized terrestrial bird and its potential role as vectors for the dispersion of these pollutants

Restrições de Acesso ao Documento

Documento confidencial:	[X] Não [] Sim, justifique:	

Informe a data que poderá ser disponibilizado no RIIF	Goiano:	15/04/2022	
O documento está sujeito a registro de patente?	[] Sim	[X] Não
O documento pode vir a ser publicado como livro?	[] Sim	[X] Não

DECLARAÇÃO DE DISTRIBUIÇÃO NÃO-EXCLUSIVA

O/A referido/a autor/a declara que:

 o documento é seu trabalho original, detém os direitos autorais da produção técnico-científica e não infringe os direitos de qualquer outra pessoa ou entidade;

 obteve autorização de quaisquer materiais inclusos no documento do qual não detém os direitos de autor/a, para conceder ao Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia Goiano os direitos requeridos e que este material cujos direitos autorais são de terceiros, estão claramente identificados e reconhecidos no texto ou conteúdo do documento entregue;

 cumpriu quaisquer obrigações exigidas por contrato ou acordo, caso o documento entregue seja baseado em trabalho financiado ou apoiado por outra instituição que não o Instituto Federal de Educação, Ciência e Tecnologia Goiano.

> <u>Urutaí, 15/04/2022</u>. Data

Simderal Silva de Sauza.

Local

Assinatura do Autor e/ou Detentor dos Direitos Autorais

Ciente e de acordo:

orientador(a)



SERVIÇO PÚBLICO FEDERAL MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO SECRETARIA DE EDUCAÇÃO PROFISSIONAL E TECNOLÓGICA INSTITUTO FEDERAL DE EDUCAÇÃO, CIÊNCIA E TECNOLOGIA GOIANO

Ata nº 11/2022 - CREPG-UR/DPGPI-UR/CMPURT/IFGOIANO

PRÓ-REITORIA DE PESQUISA, PÓS-GRADUAÇÃO E INOVAÇÃO

BANCA EXAMINADORA DE DEFESA DE DISSERTAÇÃO

Aos vinte três dias do mês de março do ano de dois mil e vinte e dois, às treze horas, reuniram-se os componentes da banca examinadora em sessão pública realizada por videoconferência, para procederem à avaliação da defesa de dissertação em nível de mestrado, de autoria de Sindoval Silva de Souza, discente do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado do Instituto Federal Goiano - Campus Urutaí, com trabalho intitulado "Toxicity induced via ingestion of naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics by a small-sized terrestrial bird and its potential role as vectors for the dispersion of these pollutants". A sessão foi aberta pelo presidente da banca examinadora, Prof. Dr. Guilherme Malafaia, que fez a apresentação formal dos membros da banca. A palavra, a seguir, foi concedida ao autor da dissertação para, em 30 minutos, proceder à apresentação de seu trabalho. Terminada a apresentação, cada membro da banca arguiu ao examinado, tendo-se adotado o sistema de diálogo sequencial. Terminada a fase de arguição, procedeu-se à avaliação da defesa. Tendo-se em vista as normas que regulamentam o Programa de Pós-Graduação em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado, a dissertação foi (x) APROVADA () **REPROVADA**, considerando-se integralmente cumprido este requisito para fins de obtenção do título de MESTRE EM CONSERVAÇÃO DE RECURSOS NATURAIS DO CERRADO, na área de concentração em Ciências Ambientais, pelo Instituto Federal Goiano - Campus Urutaí. A conclusão do curso dar-se-á quando da entrega na secretaria do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado da versão definitiva da dissertação, com as devidas correções. Assim sendo, a defesa perderá a validade se não cumprida essa condição, em até 60 (sessenta) dias da sua ocorrência. A banca examinadora recomendou a publicação dos artigos científicos oriundos dessa dissertação em periódicos após procedida as modificações sugeridas. Cumpridas as formalidades da pauta, a presidência da mesa encerrou esta sessão de defesa de dissertação de mestrado, e para constar, foi lavrada a presente Ata, que, após lida e achada conforme, será assinada eletronicamente pelos membros da banca examinadora.

Membros da Banca Examinadora:

Instituição

Situação no Programa

Dr. Guilherme Malafaia	IF Goiano - Campus Urutaí	Presidente
Dr. Ivandilson Pessoa Pinto de Menezes	IFCE - Campus Acopiara	Membro externo
Dra. Letícia Paiva de Matos	IF Goiano - Campus Urutaí	Membro interno

Documento assinado eletronicamente por:

 Ivandilson Pessoa Pinto de Menezes, Ivandilson Pessoa Pinto de Menezes - Professor Avaliador de Banca - Instituto Federal de Educacao, Ciência e Tecnologia do Ceara (10744098000145), em 30/03/2022 07:51:02.

 Leticia Paiva de Matos, Leticia Paiva de Matos - 2031 - PESQUISADORES DAS CIÊNCIAS NATURAIS E EXATAS - Instituto Federal Goiano (1), em 24/03/2022 09:52:58.

Guilherme Malafaia Pinto, PROFESSOR ENS BASICO TECN TECNOLOGICO, em 23/03/2022 15:25:50.

Este documento foi emitido pelo SUAP em 22/03/2022. Para comprovar sua autenticidade, faça a leitura do QRCode ao lado ou acesse https://suap.lfgolano.edu.br/autenticar-documento/ e forneça os dados abaixo:

Código Verificador: 369351 Código de Autenticação: 93b8e16173



INSTITUTO FEDERAL GOIANO Campus Urutaí Rodovia Geraldo Silva Nascimento, Km 2,5, Zona Rural, None, URUTAI / GO, CEP 75790-000 (64) 3465-1900



SERVIÇO PÚBLICO FEDERAL MINISTÉRIO DA EDUCAÇÃO SECRETARIA DE EDUCAÇÃO PROFISSIONAL E TECNOLÓGICA INSTITUTO FEDERAL DE EDUCAÇÃO, CIÊNCIA E TECNOLOGIA GOIANO

FOLHA DE APROVAÇÃO DA DISSERTAÇÃO

Título da dissertação: Toxicity induced via ingestion of naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics by a small-sized terrestrial bird and its potential role as vectors for the dispersion of these pollutants.

Orientador: Prof. Dr. Guilherme Malafaia Pinto

Autor: Sindoval Silva de Souza

Dissertação de Mestrado APROVADA em 23 de março de 2022, como parte das exigências para obtenção do Título MESTRE EM CONSERVAÇÃO DE RECURSOS NATURAIS DO CERRADO, pela Banca Examinadora especificada a seguir:

Prof. Dr. Guilherme Malafaia Pinto -Orientador IF Goiano – Campus Urutaí Prof. Dr. Ivandilson Pessoa Pinto de IFCE – Campus Acopiara Menezes Dra. Letícia Paiva de Matos IF Goiano – Campus Urutaí Documento assinado eletronicamente por:

- Letícia Paiva de Matos, Letícia Paiva de Matos 2031 PESQUISADORES DAS CIÊNCIAS NATURAIS E EXATAS Instituto Federal Goiano (1), em 30/03/2022 16:23:38.
- Ivandilson Pessoa Pinto de Menezes, Ivandilson Pessoa Pinto de Menezes Professor Avaliador de Banca Instituto Federal de Educacao, Ciência e Tecnologia do Ceara (10744098000145), em 30/03/2022 16:09:46.
- Guilherme Malafaia Pinto, PROFESSOR ENS BASICO TECN TECNOLOGICO, em 30/03/2022 16:02:20.

Este documento foi emitido pelo SUAP em 30/03/2022. Para comprovar sua autenticidade, faça a leitura do QRCode ao lado ou acesse https://suap.ifgolano.edu.br/autenticar-documento/ e forneça os dados abaixo:

Código Verificador: 373110 Código de Autenticação: fc6fa1d70e



INSTITUTO FEDERAL GOIANO Campus Urutaí Rodovia Geraldo Silva Nascimento, Km 2,5, Zona Rural, None, URUTAI / GO, CEP 75790-000 (64) 3465-1900

"A ciência nunca resolve um problema sem criar pelo menos outros dez." (George Bernard Shaw)

AGRADECIMENTOS

À Deus por ter me concedido esperança, sabedoria, saúde, paz, por ter colocado pessoas tão importes e especiais no meu caminho e por ter me dado forças para tornar tudo isto possível.

Ao Instituto Federal Goiano – Campus Urutaí, que me proporcionou desenvolvimento acadêmico, profissional e pessoal por meio do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado.

Ao meu orientador Prof. Dr. Guilherme Malafaia pela oportunidade de fazer parte da sua equipe, pelo acolhimento e aconselhamentos. Agradeço pelo incentivo, apoio, orientação, paciência, confiança e amizade durante essa jornada. Um exemplo de professor/orientador competente que levarei para toda vida.

Aos professores e servidores do Instituto Federal Goiano – Campus Urutaí e em especial aos professores e servidores do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Conservação de Recursos Naturais do Cerrado, e aos colegas de curso.

À minha família que me apoiaram e se dedicaram imensamente para que essa conquista profissional fosse possível, compreendendo minhas ausências nas reuniões familiares. Em especial a minha mãe Maria Helena, meu pai Sinval (*in memoriam*) e ao meu padrasto Izidio que me proporcionaram toda a estrutura e suporte para realização de todos meus sonhos.

Aos amigos do Laboratório de Pesquisas Biológicas do Instituto Federal Goiano -Campus Urutaí pela parceria, apoio, colaboração, conversas e amizade em especial a Sandy e ao Ítalo que foram mais do que amigos, dando conselhos apoio nesta jornada tão importante.

A todas as pessoas que direta e indiretamente contribuíram para a realização deste trabalho.

SUMÁRIO

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES 1
ABSTRACT
1. INTRODUCTION
2. MATERIAL AND METHODS9
2.1. Microplastics
2.2. Animal model and experimental design10
2.2.1. Quantity of microplastics and exposure procedures
2.3. Toxicity biomarkers
2.3.1. Body biomass assessment12
2.3.2. Biochemical analyzes
2.3.2.1. Sample preparation
2.3.2.2. Reactive species production13
2.3.2.3. Antioxidant response
2.3.2.4. Acetilcolinesterase activity14
2.3.2.5. Determination of the protein level14
2.4. Microplastics quantification15
2.4.1. Microplastics in feces and stomach (gizzard) and intestinal contentes
2.4.2. Microplastics in the liver15
2.5. Integrated Biomarker Response Index16
2.6. Statistical analyses
3. RESULTS
4. DISCUSSION
5. CONCLUSIONS

6. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
7. REFERENCES	
MATERIAL SUPPLEMENTARY	48

LIST OF FIGURES AND TABLES

Figure 8. Correlation and linear regression analyses between (A) "accumulation of naturallyaged polystyrene microplastics (MPs) in the gizzard, small intestine, and liver" vs. "body

Figure 11. (A) Loadings plot of the investigated variables, (B) PCA biplot of the first two main components that simultaneously shows PC1 scores experimental loadings of explanatory variables (vectors), and (C) cluster analysis dendrogram. C: group composed of quails not exposed to MPs ("control") and the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that

Figure 13. Star plot for the calculated IBRv2 index of the (A) muscle, (B) liver, (C) brain, (D) small intestine, (E) gizzard, (F) proventriculus, and (G) crop of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs). The "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day for nine consecutive days. CAT: catalase activity; SOD: superoxide dismutase activity; H₂O₂: hydrogen peroxide production; ROS: total reactive oxygen species production; MDA: production of malondialdehyde (MDA); NIT: nitrite production (an indirect measure of nitric oxide production); AChE: acetylcholinesterase activity; BB: body biomass.

The letters in parentheses refer to the initials of the brain (B), crop (C), liver (L), small intestin	ıe
(I), muscle (M), gizzard (G), and proventriculus (P)	33

TOXICITY INDUCED BY INGESTION OF NATURALLY-AGED MICROPLASTICS BY A SMALL-SIZED TERRESTRIAL BIRD AND ITS POTENTIAL ROLE AS VECTORS FOR THE DISPERSION OF THESE POLLUTANTS

ABSTRACT

In recent years, there has been a growing number of studies on the impact of microplastics (MPs) on biota. However, its effects on bird health are poorly understood. Thus, we aimed to evaluate the possible effects of ingestion of naturally-aged MPs by Coturnix coturnix japonica (11 and 22 MP particles/day/bird, once a day, for 9 days), from different toxicity biomarkers. At the end of the experiment, our data showed that birds that ingested MPs showed a significant reduction in body biomass. We also observed an increase in malondialdehyde production in the liver, brain, intestine, and gizzard of the animals, as well as a suppressive effect on hepatic nitric oxide production and superoxide dismutase activity in the liver and intestine. Cerebral catalase activity was reduced in birds exposed to MPs and a cholinesterasic effect (marked by increased acetylcholinesterase activity) was observed in the muscle and brain of these animals. Despite these differences, through the main component analysis, hierarchical clustering analysis, and integrated biomarker response assessment, we observed that, in general, the toxicological effect in birds exposed to different amounts of MPs was similar. We also noticed that the size of MPs was reduced, and their shape was altered as they transited through the gastrointestinal system, which probably explains their accumulation in the liver of birds. In addition, we noticed that expressive amounts of MPs are released by the feces of the animals throughout the experiment. As far as we know, this is the first report that associates MPs ingestion by small-sized terrestrial birds with biochemical alterations predictive of oxidative stress, redox imbalance, and cholinesterase effect, in addition to shedding light on the potential role of these birds as vectors for dispersal of MPs in natural environments.

Keywords: Micropollutants, Ecotoxicology, Avifauna, Biochemistry, Bioaccumulation, Environmental impact.

1. INTRODUCTION

Microplastic pollution has been considered a problem of global magnitude and increasing concern in recent decades (Shruti et al., 2021), especially considering the high production and consequent disposal of plastic products in the environment. In 2017, for example, 8.3 billion metric tons of virgin plastic were produced, and 12 billion tons of plastic wastes are expected to be found in the natural environment by 2050 (Geyer et al. 2017). Obviously, in more urbanized environments, MPs have been identified in high concentrations (Garcia et al., 2020; Piehl et al., 2021; Dacewicz et al., 2022). However, recent studies have shown that MPs can reach remote and pristine areas in which there are very few local sources of plastic, via atmospheric transport (Stefánsson et al., 2021; Zhang et al., 2022; Aves et al., 2022; Liang et al., 2022; Yang et al., 2022). Therefore, the atmospheric long-range transport and surface runoff represent potential pathways to carry MPs from elsewhere to the remote areas and may impact ecosystems in ways that are still poorly understood.

In animals, previous studies have shown that many of the harmful effects of MPs come from dietary exposure, either through the ingestion of plastic particles dispersed in the environment or through the ingestion of prey (via trophic transfer) previously exposed to the pollutants. The accumulation of MPs in several invertebrate species [see reviews by Foley et al. (2018) and Trestrail et al. (2020)] and vertebrates (López-Martínez et al., 2021; Araújo et al., 2021; Wootton et al., 2021; Wang et al., 2021) has already been reported in previous studies, which reinforces the potential of these micropollutants affect the faunal biodiversity of different ecosystems. However, several questions have not yet been elucidated, especially about the effects induced in some groups of animals, which have various ecological functions in the food web.

This is the case of the Aves group, which comprises endotherms organisms that are widely distributed in various habitats worldwide (from the equator to polar areas, and from oceans and freshwater to high plateaus) and that exhibit flight-related morphological and physiological traits that enable them to occupy different habitats and become important members of many ecosystems (Orme et al., 2006). Therefore, these characteristics make birds highly sensitive and vulnerable to external conditions and can be used to monitor environmental changes and in studies to assess the negative effects of pollution (Lovett, 2012; Souto et al., 2018; Carral-Murrieta et al., 2020; Silveira et al., 2021). Birds, in many situations, can confuse plastic (in various compositions, shapes, morphologies, and textures) for prey, which explains the identification of these materials in the gastrointestinal

tracts, feces, and even in feathers and other tissues or organs of several hundred avian species from freshwater (Holland et al., 2016; Reynolds & Ryan, 2018), terrestrial (Zhao et al., 2016; Carlin et al., 2020; Ballejo et al., 2021; Cunha et al., 2022), and marine (Basto et al., 2019; Nam et al., 2021; Morkūnas et al., 2021; Nania & Shugart, 2021) ecosystems.

Despite this, the consequences of MPs ingestion by small-sized terrestrial birds have not been extensively investigated (Wang et al. 2021). As discussed by Yu et al. (2014), these birds are highly diversified and widely distributed relative to raptors. However, only Ryan (1988) and Roman et al. (2019) to date have evaluated the direct consequences of MPs ingestion in small-sized terrestrial birds under laboratory conditions. In Ryan (1988), ingestion of polyethylene pellets by domestic chickens *Gallus gallus domesticus* reduces meal size and thus food consumption when plastic reduces the storage volume of the stomach. On the other hand, Roman et al. (2019) demonstrated that the ingestion of polypropylene (PP) MPs (irregular round shape and diameter: 3–4.5 mm) by Japanese Quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) do not appear to be significant animal health. Although ingestion of plastic caused growth and sexual maturity, the authors reported no evidence of lasting toxicological effects on mortality, adult body weight, organ histology, hormone levels, fertility, hatch rates, and eggshell strength in birds experimentally fed plastic. Furthermore, exposure to MPs did not affect survival or population outcomes for Japanese quail throughout several generations.

Therefore, there is a huge gap in knowledge about the possible effects of MPs on the health of small-sized terrestrial birds. Although the study by Roman et al. (2019) point to the fact that the toxicological implications of MPs ingestion may not be as severe as commonly assumed, in general, it is still very preliminary to consider any optimistic scenario for birds that ingest plastic in general. In the recent study by Cunha et al. (2022), for example, the ingestion of plastic fragments by *Coragyps atratus* adults was associated with redox imbalance in several evaluated organs, hepatic nitrosative stress, and cholinesterase effect observed in the muscle and brain of the animals. Although this study, in particular, did not evaluate small-sized birds, its findings shebd light on the toxicological potential arising from plastic ingestion by these birds.

Thus, aiming to expand our knowledge about the possible effects of MPs, we exposed adult female Japanese Quail (*C. coturnix japonica*) to the ingestion of naturally-aged MPs, assuming the induction of negative biochemical effects in different organs/tissues after nine days of exposure. In addition, we evaluated the possible absorption, translocation of plastic particles to the liver (via the hepatic portal system), as well as the release of MPs through the feces. As far as we know, this is the first report that associates MPs ingestion by small-sized terrestrial birds with biochemical alterations predictive of oxidative stress, redox imbalance, and cholinesterase effect, in addition to shedding light on the potential role of these birds as vectors for dispersal of MPs in natural environments.

2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1. Microplastics

To carry out this study, we used polystyrene (PS) MPs obtained from large plastic fragments of artificial plants kept in an open urban environment for five years, whose detailed chemical characterization and procedures for obtaining the MPs are presented in a previous study by our research group [see Guimarães et al. (2021)]. We chose to expose animals to this type of plastic due to the extensive use of plastic plants in indoor gardens, for home decoration, and in commercial buildings (Andersen, 2017), which characterizes them as potential sources of MPs for the environment. Furthermore, by using naturally-aged MPs, we brought our experimental design closer to a more realistic context of pollution by these micromaterials.

After obtaining the MPs of different sizes and colors, we selected the green-colored particles (from the leaves of plastic plants) (Figure 1A), which had a diameter of 3293.45 μ m ± 60.34 μ m (mean ± SEM) [coefficient of variation (CV) = 18.05%], and 80.2% had a diameter between 2400 and 3800 μ m (Figure 1B). Furthermore, the MPs had an irregular shape (Figure 1A), and low circularity values were obtained (0.637 ± 0.010, mean ± SEM, CV: 16.16%) for most of the MPs used. So, this reflects the weathering suffered by plastics over years of exposure to natural environmental conditions and the initial crushing of larger particles.



Figure 1. (A) Representative photomicrographs of the naturally-aged polystyrene (OS) microplastics (MPs) used in our study and distribution histograms of the (B) diameter (" μ m") and (C) shape (circularity) of the particles. In "A", scale bar = 5000 μ m (5 mm).

2.2. Animal model and experimental design

For the accomplishment of this study, adult female Japanese Quail adults (*C. coturnix japonica*) (16 weeks of age) were used, considered a species of great adaptability in captivity, being classified by the International Union for Conservation of Nature's Red List (IUCN), as Least Concern (BirdLife International, 2018). We chose to work with females, similarly to Faria et al. (2018) and Sampaio et al. (2019), to minimize possible negative effects of the naturally aggressive behavior of males throughout the experimental period, which could interfere with the results. In addition, *C. coturnix japonica* has been recommended as a model small-sized

terrestrial bird species to clarify the potential regulatory mechanisms associated with physiology, behavior, and neuroendocrinology upon exposure to different sizes of MPs (Wang et al., 2021). All individuals were acquired in commercial breeding facilities (Pires do Rio, GO, Brazil) and kept under recommended sanitary conditions for the species in the vivarium of the Laboratory of Toxicology Applied to the Environment, Goiano Federal Institute – Campus Urutaí (GO, Brazil).

After 15 days of acclimatization to laboratory conditions, the animals were divided into three experimental groups (n=10 animals), with equitable body biomass between them (oneway ANOVA test; F = 0.0498; p = 0.9515). The "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received, orally, 11 and 22 MP particles/bird, respectively, once a day, for nine consecutive days. The control group was composed of animals that did not receive any type of plastic particle. The animals were kept in steel cages (dimensions: 37.5 cm long x 34 cm wide x 22 cm high) and housed in an animal facility room with controlled temperature (24 to 25 °C) and light (12 h light cycle), according to Hussain et al. (2014) and Faria et al. (2018). In addition, the quails received water and standard commercial feed ad libitum (all bowls were stainless steel). Similar to Roman et al. (2019), each group was housed separate from other treatment groups but within the same animal room facility to reduce between-room environmental variation.

2.2.1. Quantity of microplastics and exposure procedures

The amounts of plastic particles used in the exposure of quails were defined based on studies by Zhao et al. (2016) and Carlin et al. (2020), in which the authors (together) identified plastic material in the gastrointestinal contents of 20 species of terrestrial birds of different feeding habits (carnivores, herbivores, and omnivores) captured in Shanghai (China) and Florida (USA), respectively. Zhao et al. (2016) observed that mean density by number in all specimens was 10.6 particles (plastic fibers and fragments)/bird and, in Carlin et al. (2020), the overall mean number of MPs for species of bird was 11.9. Therefore, the average number of MPs identified in the gastrointestinal/bird content in these studies is equivalent to the number of particles offered to the quails of the "MP-I" group (n=11 MPs particles/quail/day) which represents a theoretical environmentally relevant plastic loading in terrestrial birds. On the other hand, the amount of particles offered to the animals of the "MP-II" group (i.e., twice the amount ingested by the quails of the "MP-I" group) simulates a pessimistic scenario of microplastic contamination in small-sized terrestrial bird species.

Daily, the experimental birds were force-fed plastic, like Ryan (1988). For this, the predefined total number of MPs (in both groups) was introduced into the animals mixed with a small pellet of moistened wheat flour (0.80 g \pm 0.08 g – mean \pm SEM) to avoid additional stress by the repeated introduction of particles daily. The wheat flour pellet was carefully introduced on the back of the tongue of the animals (always in the morning), using metallic forceps previously sterilized and sanitized with ethanol (up to 70%, v/v). The animals in the "control" group received the wheat flour pellets free of any plastic particles.

2.3. Toxicity biomarkers

2.3.1. Body biomass assessment

Considering that the body biomass constitutes a general indicator of the health status of the animals (Depoorter et al., 2015), including the Japanese quail (Faria et al., 2018), at the end of the experiment the individuals were weighed, using electronic scales to the nearest 0.1 g.

2.3.2. Biochemical analyzes

2.3.2.1. Sample preparation

Assuming that exposure to MPs could induce predictive alterations of oxidative and nitrosative stress, a deficit of antioxidant response, and cholinesterasic effect in different organs, at the end of the experiment the birds were euthanized (via decapitation) and dissected to collect the crop, proventriculus, gizzard, and small intestine, muscle (pectoral), brain and liver fragments, according to standard methods (Van Franeker, 2004). After that, the muscle, brain, and liver fragments were immediately stored in a -80°C freezer for further analysis. Crop, proventriculus, gizzard, and intestinal fragments had their food contents completely removed and washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) (pH 7.2 at 4°C) (in abundance) before being stored in a freezer at -80°C for analysis later. Furthermore, the food contents extracted from the gizzard and intestine were dried in an oven (at 40°C, until constant weight) and later stored in containers previously sanitized with ethanol (at 70%, v/v).

For the biochemical evaluation, the collected fragments were processed according to Cunha et al. (2022), initially consisting of weighing the respective fragments and subsequent maceration in 1 mL of PBS (with a semi-automatic macerator). Subsequently, the samples were

centrifuged (10,000 rpm, for 10 min, at 4°C) for the collection of supernatants, which were used to assess the biomarkers.

2.3.2.2. Reactive species production

Assuming that the treatments could induce an increase in the production of reactive species, we evaluated the levels of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂), total reactive oxygen species (ROS), and nitric oxide (NO) in the different collected organs/tissues. For the measurement of H₂O₂, we adopted the procedures described in Elnemma et al. (2004), with some modifications. Briefly, 100 μ L of PBS was added to 96-well microplates and preheated to 37°C. Subsequently, 10 µL of supernatant and 100 µL of ammonium molybdate solution (at 0.5%, w/v in purified water) were added, mixed, and after 5 min the samples were ELISA reader reading, at 405 nm. H_2O_2 concentrations were obtained from the standard curve previously obtained (y = 0.0047x + 0.0126, R2 = 0.9984). The total ROS levels were determined from the protocol adapted from Maharajan et al. (2018). In this case, 20 µL of the supernatant was mixed (96-well microplate) with 200 μ L of PBS and 8.3 μ L of dichlorofluorescein-diacetate (to 10 mg/mL). Subsequently, the samples were incubated for 5 min (at room temperature) and read in an ELISA reader at 492 nm, according to Cunha et al. (2022). For the determination of NO production (via nitrite production), we used the method proposed by Bryan & Grisham et al. (2007), with some modifications. Initially, 30 µL of the supernatant was mixed with 150 µL of Griess reagent in a 96-well microplate. Griess reagent was prepared by mixing equal volumes of a solution of N-(1-naphthyl) ethylenediamine dihydro (1 mg/mL) and a sulfanilic acid (10 mg/mL) solution in 5% phosphoric acid. Subsequently, the sample was incubated for 5 min, at room temperature, and read at 540 nm. Nitrite concentrations were obtained via a previously made standard curve (y = 0.0019x - 0.003; R2 = 0.9996).

Furthermore, the malondialdehyde (MDA) levels were useful to infer the possible consequences of oxidative stress induced by treatments, considering that MDA is an indicator of lipid peroxidation produced by reactive species (Grotto et al., 2009; Ayala et al., 2014). For this, we used the procedures reported by Malafaia et al. (2022), by which MDA levels were determined using trichloroacetic acid (at 16%, w/v) and thiobarbituric acid (at 0.4%, w/v), with the standard curve established with different concentrations of 1,1,3,3-tetraethoxypropane (the precursor MDA), like Nasr et al. (2022).

2.3.2.3. Antioxidant response

The possible stimulatory or suppressive action of MPs on the antioxidant activity of individuals was evaluated through the activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT), taken as enzymes that make up the organisms' first line of antioxidant defense, acting mainly in suppressing or preventing the formation of free radicals or reactive species in cells (Ighodaro & Akinloye, 2018). The SOD activity in each analyzed organ was determined from the protocol established by Dieterich et al. (2000), with some modifications. Measurements were based on SOD's ability to scavenge superoxide radical anion, which decreases the overall pyrogallol autoxidation rate. One SOD activity unit was defined as the amount of enzymes inhibiting the pyrogallol autoxidation rate by 50%, which was determined at 630 nm. On the other hand, catalase activity was determined from the protocol adapted from Sinha et al. (1972). In this case, 16 μ L of the supernatant was mixed (in a 96-well microplate) with 240 μ L of the reaction solution [PBS + glacial acetic acid P.A. + potassium dichromate (at 5%, w/v)] and incubated for 20 min at 37°C. Subsequently, the samples were read in ELISA reading at 630 nm. Catalase activity was obtained via a standard curve previously made (y = 14.204x – 2.4088; R2 = 0.9902).

2.3.2.4. Acetilcolinesterase activity

To assess the association between MP ingestion and a possible cholinesterase or anticholinesterase effect, acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in muscle and brain was evaluated. As highlighted by Chen et al. (2011), AChE is a cholinergic enzyme responsible for the hydrolysis of the neurotransmitter, acetylcholine, in the nervous system and the neuromuscular junctions. In both organs, AChE activity was evaluated according to the spectrometric method proposed by Ellman (1961), using iodized acetylcholine substrate (750 μ g/mL) and 5,5'-dithiobis (2-nitrobenzoic acid) (130 μ g/mL).

2.3.2.5. Determination of the protein level

All results of biochemical analyzes were expressed in unit/g protein in the samples. Thus, we used a commercial kit (Bioténica Ind. Com. LTD, Varginha, MG, Brazil, code #10.009.00), whose total protein levels were determined based on the colorimetric reaction resulting from the reaction of Cu²⁺ ions and peptide bonds of proteins, giving rise to a blue color detected in an ELISA reader at 492 nm.

2.4. Microplastics quantification

2.4.1. Microplastics in feces and stomach (gizzard) and intestinal contentes

From the visual inspection of the feces (via stereoscopic microscope) and, later identification of microplastic particles, we quantified MPs after 12 h of the first exposure. Thereafter, assessments were performed every 24 h after each subsequent exposure. For this, we adopted the modified procedures by Yan et al. (2020). Briefly, 0.1 g of feces (previously dried in an oven at 40°C) were introduced into glass beakers and mixed with 50 mL of hydrogen peroxide solution (at 30%, v/v) and 10 mL of iron catalyst solution [FeSO₄ at 15 g/L in purified water, with pH adjusted to 3, using concentrated sulfuric acid (at 95%, v/v)]. The iron catalyst solution (Fenton's reagent) was used to accelerate the reaction of hydrogen peroxide on the organic material of the samples. Then, the samples were incubated at 65°C for 75 min and, later, the samples were centrifuged (at 1000 rpm, for 10 min, at room temperature) and the supernatant was filtered through a nitrocellulose membrane (pore: $0.45 \ \mu$ m), using a vacuum pump. Then, the filters were placed in a Petri dish with a cover, dried at room temperature, and later analyzed via stereoscopic microscopy to record the total number of MPs in the digested samples. In each evaluation, 10 replicates of feces samples from each group (including samples from the "control" group) were digested and evaluated.

The quantification of MPs in gizzard content (0.1 g) and intestinal content (small intestine) (0.1 g) was performed using the same procedures described above. However, the volumes of hydrogen peroxide and iron catalyst solution used were 25 mL and 5 mL, respectively. The MPs identified in the samples were photographed and later analyzed in the ImageJ software to evaluate the parameters related to the size (diameter) and shape (circularity) of the plastic particles (n=100 particles were analyzed for each type of sample), like Araújo et al. (2020). We emphasize that these organs were chosen because of their important contributions to the digestive process of birds. The gizzard acts as a storage organ for food, in addition to being specially modified for grinding food (Svihus, 2011). The small intestine is the primary site of absorption of most nutrients (Duke, 1997), whose functionality is similar in both birds and mammals (Lavin et al., 2008).

2.4.2. Microplastics in the liver

Assuming that the passage of MPs through the gastrointestinal tract could cause the fragmentation of plastic particles (culminating in the reduction of their sizes), we evaluated the possible absorption, translocation of MPs, and subsequent accumulation in the liver of the animals. For this, after extracting the liver and removing the fragment used in the biochemical analyses, the rest of the organ was macerated in a porcelain crucible and, later, 0.1 g of the sample was weighed and submitted to alkaline digestion, according to the procedures described above, the volumes of hydrogen peroxide and iron catalyst solutions were also adjusted to 25 mL and 5 mL, respectively.

After the steps of centrifugation and filtration of the supernatant (see item "2.4.1"), the membrane filters were processed and analyzed according to the methodology proposed by Malafaia et al. (2022a), with minor modifications. Briefly, the filtered membranes were introduced into glass beakers containing 5 mL of Nile red dye solution (up to 100 μ g/mL, in acetone PA) and 3 mL of acetonitrile (PA), aiming at the complete dissolution of the membranes and release of the MPs withheld. After complete membrane dissolution, aliquots of each sample were introduced into the Neubauer chambers for MP counting. For each animal, six Neubauer chambers were analyzed (i.e., 54 quadrants/animal), totaling 540 quadrants/group. The MPs identified in the samples (via fluorescence microscopy) were photographed and later also had their diameters and circularity values measured (by ImageJ software) (n=25 particles were analyzed). The concentrations of MPs in the liver of the animals were expressed in "number of MPs/mg liver". It is worth mentioning that the adoption of a differentiated methodology for the identification and counting of MPs in liver samples (compared to the one described in item "2.4.1") is justified due to the reduced size of the micromaterials possibly accumulated in the organ. The use of Nile red dye helped in the identification of MPs in a fluorescence microscope.

2.5. Integrated Biomarker Response Index

To evidence the toxicity of the MPs, the results of all biomarkers evaluated (in all organs/tissues) were applied into the "Integrated Biomarker Response Index" (IBRv2), similarly to the procedures described in detail in Malafaia et al. (2022b), which were based on Sanchez et al. (2013). In summary, the deviation between biomarkers measured in Japanese quail exposed to MPs was compared to those measured in birds not exposed to micropollutants ("control" group). The biomarker response scores were plotted as radar graphs. The area above 0 reflects biomarker induction, and the area below 0 indicates biomarker inhibition.

2.6. Statistical analyses

Initially, all data obtained were evaluated regarding the assumptions for using parametric models. For this, we used the Shapiro-Wilk test to assess the distribution of residual data and the Bartlett test was used to assess the homogeneity of variances. The data that met the assumptions for the use of parametric models were analyzed via one-way ANOVA test (with Tukey post-test) and the non-parametric data were compared via Kruskal-Wallis test (with Dunn's post-test). The average concentrations of MPs in the different organs of the animals of the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were compared by Student's t-test (if parametric) or Mann-Whitney test (if non-parametric). Data related to the number of MPs/g feces were submitted to two-way ANOVA (with Tukey post-test), considering the factors "treatment" (MP-I and MP-II groups) and "time" (nine evaluations along the of the trial period). The principal component analysis (PCA) was performed to explore correlations between treatments, based on the average value of each biomarker evaluated. In this regard, the number of principal components (PC) was selected based on scree plots (Peres-Neto et al., 2004). Outliers' values [identified via ROUT method (Q = 1%) were excluded from all analyzes and, before the multivariate analysis, the data were logarithmized. Additionally, we performed correlation and linear regression analyses, as well as hierarchical clustering analysis, based on Ward's method (Eszergár-Kiss & Caesar, 2017). Significance levels were set at Type I error (p) values lower than 0.05. GraphPad Prism Software Version 9.0 and PAST (PALaeontology STatistic) software were used to perform the statistical analyses.

3. RESULTS

Initially, we observed that the quail survival rate at the end of the experimental period was similar among the experimental groups (all 100%). However, at the end of the experiment, the quails that ingested MPs had lower body biomass than the animals in the "control" group (Figure 2). Although we did not show an increase in H_2O_2 induced by exposure to MPs (in any organ/tissue evaluated) (Figure 3A), total ROS levels were higher in muscle and liver of quail exposed to MPs ("MP-I" and "MP -II" groups), with an average increase of 17.4% and 23.2%, respectively, in relation to the "control" group (Figure 3B). In addition, we observed that animals exposed to the highest number of MPs also had higher production of MDA in the liver, brain, intestine, and gizzard (Figure 4A). However, hepatic nitrite levels of birds exposed to MPs were lower than those reported in the "control" group (Figure 4B).



Figure 2. Body biomass of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed and unexposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs). The bars indicate the mean + SD and the statistical summary is displayed at the top of the graph. Distinct lowercase letters indicate significant differences. C: group composed of quails not exposed to MPs ("control") and the "MP-II" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day, for nine consecutive days. n=10 animals/group.



Figure 3. (A) Hydrogen peroxide (H_2O_2) and (B) total reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in different organs/tissues of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed and unexposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs). Parametric data are presented by the mean \pm SD whereas non-parametric are presented by the median and interquartile range. Summaries of statistical analyzes are displayed next to the bars. C: group composed of quails not exposed to MPs ("control") and the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were



composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day, for nine consecutive days. n=10 animals/group.

Figure 4. (A) Malondialdehyde (MDA) and (B) nitrite (NO₂.) production in different organs/tissues of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed and unexposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs). Parametric data are presented by the mean \pm SD whereas non-parametric are presented by the median and interquartile range. Summaries of statistical analyzes are displayed next to the bars. C: group composed of quails not exposed to MPs ("control") and the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day, for nine consecutive days. n=10 animals/group.

Regarding the antioxidant response of the animals, we observed that SOD activity was reduced in the liver and intestine of quails exposed to MPs, whose average reduction was 22.5 and 20.1%, respectively, in relation to the control group. In addition, we observed a lower activity of this enzyme in the crop of the animals of the "MP-II" group (Figure 5A). In the other organs, SOD activity did not differ between the experimental groups. However, we did not observe a well-defined pattern regarding the effect of exposure to MPs on catalase activity in the different organs/tissues evaluated (Figure 5B). While in muscle, catalase activity was higher in quails from groups exposed to pollutants (average of 11.3%); in the intestine, a suppressive effect was observed in these same animals (Figure 5B). Furthermore, the activity of this enzyme in the liver of the animals in the "MP-II" group was increased by 20.8% in relation to the "control" group; however, in the brain, a reduction of close to 10% was noticed in these same animals. On the other hand, in the crop of the animals of the "MP-I" group, we observed an increase in catalase activity and, in the gizzard and proventriculus of these same animals, a suppressive effect was evidenced (Figure 5B). As for AChE activity, although we did not observe statistical differences between the experimental groups, we noticed a trend towards the increased activity of this enzyme in the muscle and brain of animals exposed to MPs (Figure 6). Such trends represented mean increases >22% and >7.5% in the respective tissues.



Figure 5. (A) Superoxide dismutase (SOD) and (B) catalase activity in different organs/tissues of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed and unexposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs). Parametric data are presented by the mean \pm SD whereas non-parametric are presented by the median and

interquartile range. Summaries of statistical analyzes are displayed next to the bars. C: group composed of quails not exposed to MPs ("control") and the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day, for nine consecutive days. n=10 animals/group.



Figure 6. Acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity in muscle and brain of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed and unexposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs). Parametric data are presented by the mean \pm SD whereas non-parametric are presented by the median and interquartile range. Summaries of statistical analyzes are displayed next to the bars. C: group composed of quails not exposed to MPs ("control") and the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day, for nine consecutive days. n=10 animals/group.

Regarding the quantification of MPs in the gizzard and intestine, our data confirm the visual analysis of their contents, in which the evident presence of plastic particles was noticed (Figure 7B-C) mixed with food content. As expected, we noticed a higher concentration of MPs in the gizzard and intestine of the quails of the "MP-II" group, compared to the birds that received a lower number of MPs (Figure 7A). On the other hand, the number of plastic particles in the intestinal contents (from both groups exposed to MPs) was on average 113.3% higher than that observed in the gizzard. Furthermore, the presence of MPs in the analyzed liver samples suggests that part of the ingested MPs was absorbed by intestinal cells and passed through the hepatic portal system. We showed that the concentration of MPs in the liver of the quails of the "MP-II" group was 29.1% higher than that identified in the quails of the "MP-II" group (Figure 7D-E). Furthermore, our data point to significant correlations between the accumulation of MPs in these organs and different biomarkers evaluated (Figure 8). On the other hand, we noticed the elimination of plastic particles in the feces shortly after 12 h of the first exposure (Figure 9A-C). Additionally, we observed that the number of particles/g of fecal

content remained constant throughout subsequent evaluations. As expected, a greater number of MPs was observed in the feces of birds in the "MP-II" group (Figure 9D).



Figure 7. The number of plastic particles identified in (A-C) gizzard and small intestine and (D-E) liver of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs). In "A and D", parametric data are presented by the mean ± SD whereas non-parametric are presented by the median and interquartile range. Summaries of statistical analyzes are displayed at the top of the graphs. In "A", distinct lowercase letters indicate significant differences between the experimental groups within each organ evaluated. The distinct capital letters indicate significant differences between the number of plastic particles of Organs evaluated organs. In "B and C" we highlight the presence of MPs (green particles) in the contents of gizzard (B) and intestine (C) of quails exposed to pollutants. In "E", a representative image of the presence of PM in the Neubauer chamber is presented during the analysis of liver samples from quail exposed to the pollutant. "MP-II" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 plastic particles, respectively, once a day for nine consecutive days. n=10 animals/group.



Figure 8. Correlation and linear regression analyses between (A) "accumulation of naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs) in the gizzard, small intestine, and liver" vs. "body biomass"; (B-C) "number of MPs in gizzard and intestine" vs. "MDA levels" in the respective organs, and (D) "MPs accumulation in the liver" vs. "MDA and ROS levels and SOD activity" in quail liver. The graphics show the 95% confidence bands of the best-fit line in linear regression analysis. MPs: naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (number of plastic particle/g content); MDA: malondialdehyde (nmol/g protein); ROS: total reactive oxygen species (relative fluorescence/g protein); SOD: superoxide dismutase activity (units/g protein).



Figure 9. (A-C) Representative photomicrographs of fecal samples from adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs), shortly after 12 h of first exposure. (D) The number of particle plastic/g feces identified during the daily assessments carried out. In "D", the circles indicate the mean \pm SD, and the summary of the statistical analysis is presented at the top of the graph. Distinct lowercase letters indicate significant differences. The "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 plastic particles, respectively, once a day for nine consecutive days. n=10 animals/group.

We also observed that the size and shape of ingested MPs were modified as they transited through the animals gastrointestinal tract. As shown in Figure 10A, the diameter of the MPs was organ-dependent. In the gizzard content, we observed, on average, a reduction of 46.8% in the diameter of the MPs in relation to the plastic particles initially ingested, and a more accentuated reduction was observed in the particles identified in the intestinal content (average reduction of 80.2%). In the liver, the identified MPs had a diameter of 9.18 μ m \pm 0.89 μ m (mean \pm SEM), which represents a size 364.8 times smaller than that recorded in the

particles initially ingested by the animals (Figure 10A). Furthermore, we observed that the diameter of the MPs identified in the feces was like that identified in the intestinal content (626.90 μ m ± 40.77 μ m; general mean ± SEM) and, in terms of shape, we did not observe differences between the circularity values of the MPs identified in gizzard, intestine, and feces (Figure 10B). On the other hand, in the liver, MPs showed higher circularity-values in relation to the particles initially ingested by the animals and those identified in the gizzard and intestine (Figure 10B). As shown in Figure 10E, 88.8% of MPs in the liver had values \geq 0.9, which indicates more spheroidal shapes (Figure 10C-D).



Figure 10. (A) Diameter (µm) and (B) circularity-values of naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs) before ingestion (initial) and in those identified in gizzard and intestine contents, feces, and liver of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*). (C-D) Representative images of the shape of the plastic particles observed in the (C) liver and (D) feces of the animals. (E) Histogram of circularity-value distribution of particles accumulated in the quail liver. In "A" and "B", non-parametric data are presented by the median and interquartile range. Statistical summaries are displayed at the top of the graphs and distinct lowercase letters indicate significant

differences. The "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 plastic particles, respectively, once a day for nine consecutive days. n=10 animals/group. 216h: indicates that the evaluation was performed 216h after the first exposure of the animals. Alternatively, this indication can be interpreted as "24 h after the ninth exposure".

To show an overview of the results and correlations between the groups and the variables evaluated in this study, data from all biomarkers were submitted to a PCA. According to this analysis, the first two principal components (PC1 and PC2) cumulatively explained 100% of the total variation (PC1 = 56.79%; PC2 = 43.21%), with the eigenvalues > 20 (PC1 = 26.69; PC2 = 20.31). The loadings plot (which shows the relationship between the PCs and the original variable – Figure 11A) and Table 1 demonstrate a diversified positioning of the variables in the PCs. On the other hand, in the PCA biplot, we noticed that the groups exposed to MPs were clearly separated from the "control" group by PC1, the latter having a negative score (C: -5.74) and the other groups positive scores ("MP-I": 3.00 and "MP-II": 2.74) (Figure 11B), which confirms the trends observed in the tests presented above (one-way ANOVA or Kruskal-Wallis tests). In addition, the similarity of the PC1 scores of the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups in PC1 allowed them to be grouped into a single group (Figure 11B), which was also observed in the hierarchical clustering analysis performed according to Ward's method (Figure 11C).

Additionally, to complement the PCA performed, the IBRv2 was applied to provide an overall evaluation of the toxicological effects of MPs on quails. As shown in Figure 12A, the proximity between the scores (absolute value) of biomarker responses of the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups indicates a similar sensitivity to toxic stress, which also confirms the clustering of these groups in the PCA (Figure 11B). The IBR star plots combining scores of biomarker response in the different organs/tissues evaluated and corresponding IBRv2 values of different treatments are shown in Figure 12B. Of all biomarkers, the scores of MDA response in most organs/tissues evaluated were markedly higher than those of other biomarkers, indicating that lipid peroxidation displayed the highest response sensitivity. Additionally, SOD (muscle) and catalase (brain) activity, as well as ROS (liver and muscle) and H₂O₂ (crop) production were



more sensitive to exposure to MPs, with MDA levels (brain, intestine, and liver) were more sensitive to the ingestion of a higher number of MPs (Figure 12B and 13).

Figure 11. (A) Loadings plot of the investigated variables, (B) PCA biplot of the first two main components that simultaneously shows PC1 scores experimental loadings of explanatory variables (vectors), and (C) cluster analysis dendrogram. C: group composed of quails not exposed to MPs ("control") and the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day, for nine consecutive days. CAT: catalase activity; SOD: superoxide dismutase activity; H_2O_2 : hydrogen peroxide production; ROS: total reactive oxygen species production; MDA: production of malondialdehyde (MDA); NIT: nitrite production (an indirect measure of nitric oxide production); AChE: acetylcholinesterase activity; BB: body biomass. The letters in parentheses refer to the initials of the brain (B), crop (C), liver (L), small intestine (I), muscle (M), gizzard (G), and proventriculus (P).

Biomarkers -	Principal components ^a		Diamankana	Principal components ^a		
	PC1	PC2	- Biomarkers -	PC1	PC2	
CAT(M)	0.994	-0.107	ROS(B)	-0.871	0.492	
CAT(L)	0.579	0.815	ROS(I)	-0.679	-0.734	
CAT(B)	-0.216	-0.976	ROS(G)	-0.777	-0.629	
CAT(I)	-0.998	0.068	ROS(P)	0.607	0.795	
CAT(G)	-0.570	0.822	ROS(C)	-0.477	-0.879	
CAT(P)	-0.378	0.926	MDA(M)	0.996	0.094	
CAT(C)	0.229	-0.973	MDA(L)	0.268	0.964	
SOD(M)	0.999	0.049	MDA(B)	0.931	0.366	
SOD(L)	-0.943	-0.332	MDA(I)	0.872	0.490	
SOD(B)	0.404	-0.915	MDA(G)	0.500	0.866	
SOD(I)	-0.995	0.100	MDA(P)	-0.550	0.835	
SOD(G)	0.018	1.000	MDA(C)	-0.743	0.669	
SOD(P)	-0.557	0.830	NIT(M)	0.978	-0.209	
SOD(C)	-0.883	-0.469	NIT(L)	-0.962	-0.275	
$H_2O_2(M)$	0.181	-0.983	NIT(B)	0.338	-0.941	
$H_2O_2(L)$	-1.000	0.028	NIT(I)	-0.998	-0.068	
$H_2O_2(B)$	0.019	-1.000	NIT(G)	-0.390	-0.921	
$H_2O_2(I)$	-0.942	0.335	NIT(P)	-0.758	0.653	
$H_2O_2(G)$	0.599	-0.801	NIT(C)	0.414	-0.910	
$H_2O_2(P)$	-0.482	0.876	NIT(M)	0.978	-0.207	
$H_2O_2(C)$	0.905	0.425	NIT(B)	0.988	-0.158	
ROS(M)	0.966	0.259	AChE(M)	0.978	-0.207	
DOS(I)	0 765	0 644	AChE(B)	0.988	-0.158	
KUS(L)	0.703	0.044	BB	-0.927	-0.376	

Table 1. Rotated loading (coefficient) matrix provided by the multivariate analysis to define factors or principal components PC1 and PC2.

Legend: CAT: catalase activity; SOD: superoxide dismutase activity; H₂O₂: hydrogen peroxide production; ROS: total reactive oxygen species production; MDA: production of malondialdehyde (MDA); NIT: nitrite production (an indirect measure of nitric oxide production); AChE: acetylcholinesterase activity; BB: body biomass. The letters in parentheses refer to the initials of the brain (B), crop (C), liver (L), small intestine (I), muscle (M), gizzard (G), and proventriculus (P).



Figure 12. (A) Results of integrated biomarker responses index (IBRv2) calculations and (B) star plot for "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups. In "B", the calculated value for each biomarker (of each organ/tissue) was reported in a star plot in a reference deviation of each investigated biomarker. The area above 0 reflects induction of the biomarker and below 0 indicates a reduction of the biomarker. The "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day for nine consecutive days. CAT: catalase activity; SOD: superoxide dismutase activity; H_2O_2 : hydrogen peroxide production; ROS: total reactive oxygen species production; MDA: production of malondialdehyde (MDA); NIT: nitrite production (an indirect measure of nitric

oxide production); AChE: acetylcholinesterase activity; BB: body biomass. The letters in parentheses refer to the initials of the brain (B), crop (C), liver (L), small intestine (I), muscle (M), gizzard (G), and proventriculus (P).



Figure 13. Star plot for the calculated IBRv2 index of the (A) muscle, (B) liver, (C) brain, (D) small intestine, (E) gizzard, (F) proventriculus, and (G) crop of adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) exposed to naturally-aged polystyrene microplastics (MPs). The "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups were composed of quails that received 11 and 22 MP particles, respectively, once a day for nine consecutive days. CAT: catalase activity; SOD: superoxide dismutase activity; H₂O₂: hydrogen peroxide production; ROS: total reactive oxygen species production; MDA: production of malondialdehyde (MDA); NIT: nitrite production (an indirect measure of nitric oxide production); AChE: acetylcholinesterase activity; BB: body biomass. The letters in parentheses refer to the initials of the brain (B), crop (C), liver (L), small intestine (I), muscle (M), gizzard (G), and proventriculus (P).

4. DISCUSSION

It is agreed that one of the major challenges of (eco)toxicological evaluation studies is to understand how pollutants/contaminants affect different organisms. Especially in small-sized terrestrial birds, the identification and characterization of plastic ingestion are important not only to fill a gap in our knowledge but especially to allow prediction of the impacts of MPs on these important components of avifauna. As highlighted by Yu et al. (2014), these animals are highly diversified and widely distributed in different ecological habitats. However, this important argument has not been enough to leverage current studies on the possible impacts arising from the ingestion of MPs. In the recent review by Wang et al. (2021), the authors point out that very little is known about the relationship between the occurrence of macroplastics and MPs in small-sized terrestrial birds, as well as about their impacts on the health of these animals. Therefore, the evaluation of the possible effects of microplastic ingestion by these birds becomes important to support the planning and mitigation, and conservation actions of these animals.

In our study, using the experimental model *C. cotunix japonica* (a representative of small-sized terrestrial birds), we demonstrated that the ingestion of MPs can induce alterations that put their survival at risk. Initially, it was evidenced that the ingestion of MPs for only nine days was able to affect the body biomass of the animals. At the end of the experiment, the weight of the quails in the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups was on average 10% lower than that of the animals in the "control" group, which was also reported by Spear et al. (1995), when studying seabirds captured in the tropical Pacific between 1984 to 1991. At the time, the authors hypothesized that the lower weight of birds that contained plastic in the gastrointestinal contents would be due to physical damage or blockage of the digestive tract and/or impairment of digestive efficiency induced by these materials. On the other hand, when subjecting domestic chickens *G. gallus domesticus* to the ingestion of plastic fragments, Ryan (1988) observed a significant reduction in the birds feeding, which was associated with the reduced gizzard volume, considering the occupation of a large part of the stomach cavity by the birds plastic particles. Therefore, these studies provide evidence of what may have caused the reduction in body biomass of quails exposed to MPs in our study.

On the other hand, it is also possible that this weight loss is associated with increased energy expenditure to maintain redox homeostasis in the different organs evaluated. As discussed by Hou et al. (2015), in many circumstances, energy expenditure is proportional to the rate of free radical production, which in turn is proportional to the net oxidative damage.

Furthermore, it is known that activation of cellular damage repair mechanisms (e.g.: removal of peroxidized acyl chains from phospholipids, DNA double-strand break or base excision repair, and methionine sulfoxide repair) can increase the overall metabolic energy pool (Hou et al., 2015) which, in the medium and long term, can result in damage to the organism. Furthermore, we cannot neglect the hypothesis that the immune response of birds to MPs imposed additional energy costs that could have contributed to the weight loss of the animals. The low production of nitrite observed in the liver of birds in the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups (Figure 4B), for example, is suggestive of a suppressive effect on hepatic NO production and/or isoforms of nitric oxide synthases in different cells that play a crucial role in immune homeostasis in the liver, including liver sinusoidal endothelial cells, hepatocytes, Kupffer cells (liver resident macrophages), hepatic stellate cells, smooth muscle cells, cholangiocytes, and other immune cells (Iwakiri & Kim, 2015). Therefore, prioritizing energy for an antioxidant, damage repair, and immune response could conflict with systems that are necessary for meeting ongoing ecological challenges, such as those involving the maintenance of body biomass and tissue energy reserves. In this case, future evaluations on the impact of MPs ingestion on the metabolic reorganization processes in birds may favor our understanding of the mechanisms that lead to weight reduction in these animals, which was evidenced both in our study and in the work of Spear et al. al. (1995). In addition, assessments of the lipid composition of reserve tissues, of subcellular fractions of other tissues, and their variations as a function of plastic ingestion are strongly recommended.

Another aspect observed in our study refers to the differentiated pro- and antioxidant response in the organs/tissues of quails exposed to MPs. Although the biochemical changes in some organs have not been directly associated with the accumulation of MPs; for others, the cause of the reported changes was proportional to the concentrations of plastic particles in these organs. The presence of MPs in the gizzard and intestine, for example, was positively correlated with the production of MDA in these organs (Figures 8B-C) which, contrary to our expectations, was not associated with the production of ROS (similar between the experimental groups, Figure 3B). In this case, it is plausible to assume that the increase in MDA levels is part of an adaptive response to try to counterbalance the oxidative stress induced by MPs. As discussed by Morales & Munné-Bosch (2019) and more recently by Rangasamy et al. (2022), MDA increases may represent acclimation processes rather than damage, since MDA can exert a positive role by activating regulatory genes involved in animal defense and development and

granting cell protection under oxidative stress conditions. Anyway, this presumption needs to be validated by future studies.

On the other hand, in the liver, accumulated MPs were significantly associated with increased production of ROS and MDA, as well as reduced hepatic SOD activity (Figure 8D). Therefore, these data suggest a typical redox imbalance, characterized by the inability of the hepatic antioxidant system to counterbalance ROS production, with reduced SOD activity indirectly contributing to the increase in lipid peroxidation processes in the liver (inferred by MDA levels). The significant correlations between these biomarkers (Figure 8) reinforce our hypothesis. In any case, these alterations can lead to a series of other hepatic alterations (at a cellular, structural, or molecular level) that compromise the function of this important organ. Although no studies have investigated the consequences of MP accumulation in the liver of birds, several liver changes have already been reported in other animal models, which instigate further investigations involving small-sized terrestrial birds exposed to the pollutant. In Physalaemus cuvieri tadpoles, for example, we demonstrated that the bioaccumulation of MPs in the liver was correlated to different histopathological changes (blood vessel dilation, infiltration, congestion, hydropic degeneration, hypertrophy, and hyperplasia), which showed the histopathotoxicity of MPs (Araújo et al. al., 2020b). Similarly, Deng et al. (2017) demonstrated that compared with control mice, inflammation and lipid droplets were observed in the livers of PS-MPs-treated ICR mice. In C57BL/6 male mice, it was observed that PS-MPs induced hepatocyte apoptosis and abnormal glycolytic flux through ROS-driven calcium overload (Li et al., 2021). Furthermore, the transcriptomic analysis indicated that the PS-MPs resulted in hepatic glycolipid disruption metabolism in zebrafish (Danio rerio), which led to liver dysfunction and degeneration eventually (Zhao et al., 2020).

Interestingly, we also observed that the ingestion of MPs by quails induced biochemical changes in organs that are not directly interconnected with the animals' gastrointestinal system, which confirms the systemic toxicity associated with MPs. In the brain, for example, an average increase of 43% in the production of MDA was observed in the animals exposed to MPs (Figure 4A), and in the muscle, the production of total ROS was higher, on average, by 17.5% compared to the control group (Figure 3B). Furthermore, although AChE activity in muscle and brain did not differ significantly between the experimental groups, mean increases of 22.2% and 7.5%, respectively, were observed in quails that ingested MPs (Figure 6). From a biological point of view, these results can be interpreted as a moderate cholinesterase effect induced by MPs, which has also been demonstrated in previous studies involving Danio rerio (Guimarães et al., 2021),

Culex quinquefasciatus larvae (Malafaia et al., 2020), ICR mice (Deng et al., 2017), earthworms (Eisenia foetida) (Chen et al., 2020), and wild fish from North-East Atlantic Ocean (Dicentrachus labrax, Trachurus trachurus, Scomber colias) (Barboza et al., 2020). Future investigations should be conducted to investigate the mechanisms intrinsic to these alterations, which are unknown in birds, but also complex and ambiguous in different animal organisms. However, we cannot neglect the hypothesis that the biochemical changes reported, especially in the brain and muscle, are related to the release of heavy metals adsorbed to the surfaces of naturally-aged MPs used in our study. During the chemical characterization of these materials, previously carried out by Guimarães et al. (2021), we observed weak peaks of Fe, Ca, Cu, Si, Al, Na, and S, which were observed in spectra found through electron microscopy. Therefore, it is plausible to suppose that these chemical elements may have been leached from MPs, absorbed via the gastrointestinal system, and, consequently, have contributed to the occurrence of the reported changes.

In any case, the increase in oxidative stress processes and the increase in AChE in the brain and muscle can lead to harmful consequences for animals. Biochemical changes in the brain induced by micro(nano)plastics have, for example, been associated with neurobehavioral disorders important for the survival of other animal models (e.g.: Mattsson et al., 2015; Mattsson et al., 2017; Zaheer et al., 2022). Elevated AChE activity, in particular, can lead to dramatic effects that include, among others, reduced cholinergic neurotransmission efficiency due to decreased acetylcholine levels in the synaptic cleft (Ferreira et al., 2012, Teodorak et al., 2015), which, in its turn, lead to several changes. As discussed by Guimarães et al. (2021), important neurophysiological processes at the very root of several motor and cognitive functions are linked to cholinergic neurotransmission at the synaptic, pathway, and circuital levels. Furthermore, it is well established that highly reactive molecules have many deleterious effects on the muscle, such as a reduction of force generation and increased muscle atrophy (Steinbacher & Eckl, 2015). Therefore, the changes observed in the brain and muscle of quails exposed to MPs can culminate in comprehensive physiological changes.

On the other hand, although we have reported different effects in the evaluated organs/tissues, taken together, our data suggest that the ingestion of MPs induced similar toxicological effects in the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups, which was clearly evidenced in the PCA analysis (Figure 11B), hierarchical clustering analysis (Figure 11C), and in the IBRv2-values obtained for both groups (Figure 12a). Such results demonstrate, therefore, that the ingestion of a low number of MPs is sufficient to cause a toxicological effect like that induced

by the ingestion of larger amounts. In this case, even if preliminary, it is tempting to speculate on the possible activation of tolerance mechanisms in the animals of the "MP-II" group, to prevent more extensive damage from occurring due to exposure to a greater amount of MPs. In the pharmacological area, the dose-response curve, which postulates that a change in drug dose will produce a proportionate and predictable change in drug effect, is assumed to provide an adequate description of the dose-effect relation (Peper, 2009). However, Yang et al. (2021) warn that existing conceptualizations of the relationship between drug dose and drug effect display fundamental contradictions. Therefore, the possible mechanisms that modulate the response of organisms (including the birds that are the focus of our study) to the exposure of MPs (in different concentrations/doses) constitute fertile and useful investigative perspectives to be explored in future investigations.

Another important result observed in our study refers to the changes that occurred in the size of MPs when transiting through the digestive tract of birds. As shown in Figure 10A, the MPs identified in the gizzard and intestine showed significantly reduced sizes when compared to the diameter of the plastic particles initially ingested, suggesting, therefore, the occurrence of MPs fragmentation by the direct action of the gizzard's mechanical functions. As described by Svihus (2011), the gizzard of birds of the order Galliformes has as a typical characteristic the adaptation to the grinding of coarse particles, which occurred through the development of a very large mass of strongly smooth muscles posterior to the glandular stomach immediately. Therefore, this may explain the large number of plastic particles identified in the animals' feces. We observed that throughout the experiment, on average, 49.9 ± 2.22 MP particles and 153.80 \pm 6.44 MP particles (mean \pm SEM) were released daily per "g" of feces produced by quails in the "MP -I" and "MP-II", respectively (Figure 9D). In this case, if the daily production of feces by a quail is equivalent to approximately 7% of its body weight, as already reported for domestic pigeon (Columbia livia) (Walia & Walia, 2021), it is possible to predict that after only 12 h of the first MP ingestion occurred, 588.8 and 1722.24 MP particles/day were released by the quails of the "MP-I" and "MP-II" groups, respectively. This represents an increase of 53.3 and 78.2 times (respectively) in the number of particles ingested by birds initially. Therefore, these data point to the real possibility of small-sized terrestrial birds, acting (unintentionally) as vectors for dispersal of MPs in environments, as already reported for birds of the order Falconiformes (e.g.: Falco tinnunculus, Buteo buteo, and Milvus migrans lineatus (Zhao et al., 2016). In addition to the ingestion of plastic particles inducing changes that are predictive of damage to the health of animals, the release of MPs through feces can greatly increase the dispersion power of these pollutants in natural environments and, consequently, impact organisms from different trophic levels of the food chain.

5. CONCLUSIONS

In conclusion, our study confirms the initial hypothesis demonstrating that the ingestion of naturally-aged MPs induces biochemical changes in different organs of adult female *C. coturnix japonica*. In addition, we observed that the reduction in size and changes in the shape of the particles, along the digestive tract, contribute to the release (via feces) of large amounts of MPs (which demonstrates the potential of these birds to act as vectors for dispersal of MPs. in natural environments), in addition to providing opportunities for absorption, translocation via the hepatic portal system and consequent accumulation of these particles in the liver of birds. Obviously, our study is not exhaustive, and our data represent only the "tip of an iceberg" that represents the impacts that MPs can have on avifauna. Therefore, it is recommended that similar studies be carried out, expanding the representation of small-sized terrestrial birds, based on the evaluation of other animal models, as well as evaluating other biomarkers of toxicity (e.g.: histopathological, molecular, mutagenic, genotoxic, reproductive) and the potential mechanisms of action (direct or indirect) of MPs. The development of studies such as ours constitutes a unique opportunity to support the planning of strategies to mitigate the impacts of MPs on small-sized terrestrial birds, as well as the conservation of their species.

6. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors the Goiano Federal Institute (Proc. No. 23219.001291.2021-36) and the National Council for Scientific and Technological Development (CNPq/Brazil) for the financial support needed to conduct this research (Proc. No. 403065/2021-6). Malafaia G. holds a productivity scholarship from CNPq (Proc. No. 308854/2021-7).

7. REFERENCES

- Andersen, P. (2017). Floral Clocks, Carpet Beds, and the Ornamentation of Public Parks. Arnoldia, 75(1), 26-35.
- Araújo, A. P. C., de Melo, N. F. S., de Oliveira Junior, A. G., Rodrigues, F. P., Fernandes, T., de Andrade Vieira, J. E., & Malafaia, G. (2020a). How much are microplastics harmful

to the health of amphibians? A study with pristine polyethylene microplastics and Physalaemus cuvieri. Journal of hazardous materials, 382, 121066.

- Araújo, A. P. C., Gomes, A. R., & Malafaia, G. (2020b). Hepatotoxicity of pristine polyethylene microplastics in neotropical physalaemus cuvieri tadpoles (Fitzinger, 1826). Journal of Hazardous Materials, 386, 121992.
- Araújo, A. P. C., Rocha, T. L., e Silva, D. D. M., & Malafaia, G. (2021). Micro (nano) plastics as an emerging risk factor to the health of amphibian: A scientometric and systematic review. Chemosphere, 283, 131090.
- Aves, A. R., Revell, L. E., Gaw, S., Ruffell, H., Schuddeboom, A., Wotherspoon, N. E., & McDonald, A. J. (2022). First evidence of microplastics in Antarctic snow. The Cryosphere Discussions, 1-31.
- Ayala, A., Muñoz, M. F., & Argüelles, S. (2014). Lipid peroxidation: production, metabolism, and signaling mechanisms of malondialdehyde and 4-hydroxy-2-nonenal. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2014.
- Ballejo, F., Plaza, P., Speziale, K. L., Lambertucci, A. P., & Lambertucci, S. A. (2021). Plastic ingestion and dispersion by vultures may produce plastic islands in natural areas. Science of the Total Environment, 755, 142421.
- Barboza, L. G. A., Lopes, C., Oliveira, P., Bessa, F., Otero, V., Henriques, B., ... & Guilhermino, L. (2020). Microplastics in wild fish from North East Atlantic Ocean and its potential for causing neurotoxic effects, lipid oxidative damage, and human health risks associated with ingestion exposure. Science of the Total Environment, 717, 134625.
- Basto, M. N., Nicastro, K. R., Tavares, A. I., McQuaid, C. D., Casero, M., Azevedo, F., & Zardi, G. I. (2019). Plastic ingestion in aquatic birds in Portugal. Marine pollution bulletin, 138, 19-24.
- BirdLife International. 2018. Coturnix coturnix. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species
 2018: e.T22678944A131904485. https://dx.doi.org/10.2305/IUCN.UK.20182.RLTS.T22678944A131904485.en. Accessed on 08 March 2022.
- Bryan, N. S., & Grisham, M. B. (2007). Methods to detect nitric oxide and its metabolites in biological samples. Free radical biology and medicine, 43(5), 645-657.
- Carlin, J., Craig, C., Little, S., Donnelly, M., Fox, D., Zhai, L., & Walters, L. (2020). Microplastic accumulation in the gastrointestinal tracts in birds of prey in central Florida, USA. Environmental Pollution, 264, 114633.

- Carlin, J., Craig, C., Little, S., Donnelly, M., Fox, D., Zhai, L., & Walters, L. (2020). Microplastic accumulation in the gastrointestinal tracts in birds of prey in central Florida, USA. Environmental Pollution, 264, 114633.
- Carral-Murrieta, C. O., García-Arroyo, M., Marín-Gómez, O. H., Sosa-López, J. R., & MacGregor-Fors, I. (2020). Noisy environments: untangling the role of anthropogenic noise on bird species richness in a Neotropical city. Avian Research, 11(1), 1-7.
- Chen, V. P., Luk, W. K., Chan, W. K., Leung, K. W., Guo, A. J., Chan, G. K., ... & Tsim, K.
 W. (2011). Molecular assembly and biosynthesis of acetylcholinesterase in brain and muscle: the roles of t-peptide, FHB domain, and N-linked glycosylation. Frontiers in molecular neuroscience, 4, 36.
- Chen, Y., Liu, X., Leng, Y., & Wang, J. (2020). Defense responses in earthworms (Eisenia fetida) exposed to low-density polyethylene microplastics in soils. Ecotoxicology and environmental safety, 187, 109788.
- Cunha, W. A., Freitas, Í. N., Gomes, L. A. S., de Oliveira Gonçalves, S., Montalvão, M. F., Ahmed, M. A. I., ... & Malafaia, G. (2022). From carrion-eaters to plastic material plunderers: Toxicological impacts of plastic ingestion on black vultures, Coragyps atratus (Cathartiformes: Cathartidae). Journal of Hazardous Materials, 424, 127753.
- Dacewicz, E., Bergel, T., Łobos-Moysa, E., Moraczewska-Majkut, K., & Nocoń, W. (2022). Microplastic and mesoplastic in stagnation of the Vistula water in highly urbanized areas of the Krakow poviat-preliminary research. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum. Formatio Circumiectus, 20(3-4), 5-17.
- Deng, Y., Zhang, Y., Lemos, B., & Ren, H. (2017). Tissue accumulation of microplastics in mice and biomarker responses suggest widespread health risks of exposure. Scientific reports, 7(1), 1-10.
- Depoorter, P., Van Huffel, X., Diricks, H., Imberechts, H., Dewulf, J., Berkvens, D., & Uyttendaele, M. (2015). Measuring general animal health status: Development of an animal health barometer. Preventive Veterinary Medicine, 118(4), 341-350.
- Dieterich, S., Bieligk, U., Beulich, K., Hasenfuss, G., & Prestle, J. (2000). Gene expression of antioxidative enzymes in the human heart: increased expression of catalase in the endstage failing heart. Circulation, 101(1), 33-39.
- Duke, G. E. (1997). Gastrointestinal physiology and nutrition in wild birds. Proceedings of the Nutrition Society, 56(3), 1049-1056.

- Ellman, G. L., Courtney, K. D., Andres Jr, V., & Featherstone, R. M. (1961). A new and rapid colorimetric determination of acetylcholinesterase activity. Biochemical pharmacology, 7(2), 88-95.
- Elnemma, E. M. (2004). Spectrophotometric determination of hydrogen peroxide by a hydroquinone-aniline system catalyzed by molybdate. Bulletin of the Korean Chemical Society, 25(1), 127-129.
- Eszergár-Kiss, D., & Caesar, B. (2017). Definition of user groups applying Ward's method. Transportation Research Procedia, 22, 25-34.
- Faria, D. B. G., Montalvão, M. F., Chagas, T. Q., Araújo, A. P. C., de Souza, J. M., Mendes, B. O., ... & Malafaia, G. (2018). Behavioral changes in Japanese quails exposed to predicted environmentally relevant abamectin concentrations. Science of The Total Environment, 636, 1553-1564.
- Ferreira, G. K., Carvalho-Silva, M., Gonçalves, C. L., Vieira, J. S., Scaini, G., Ghedim, F. V., ... & Streck, E. L. (2012). L-tyrosine administration increases acetylcholinesterase activity in rats. Neurochemistry International, 61(8), 1370-1374.
- Foley, C. J., Feiner, Z. S., Malinich, T. D., & Höök, T. O. (2018). A meta-analysis of the effects of exposure to microplastics on fish and aquatic invertebrates. Science of the total environment, 631, 550-559.
- Garcia, T. D., Cardozo, A. L., Quirino, B. A., Yofukuji, K. Y., Ganassin, M. J., dos Santos, N. C., & Fugi, R. (2020). Ingestion of microplastic by fish of different feeding habits in urbanized and non-urbanized streams in Southern Brazil. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 231(8), 1-11.
- Grotto, D., Maria, L. S., Valentini, J., Paniz, C., Schmitt, G., Garcia, S. C., ... & Farina, M. (2009). Importance of the lipid peroxidation biomarkers and methodological aspects for malondialdehyde quantification. Quimica Nova, 32(1), 169-174.
- Guimarães, A. T. B., Charlie-Silva, I., & Malafaia, G. (2021). Toxic effects of naturally-aged microplastics on zebrafish juveniles: a more realistic approach to plastic pollution in freshwater ecosystems. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 407, 124833.
- Holland, E. R., Mallory, M. L., & Shutler, D. (2016). Plastics and other anthropogenic debris in freshwater birds from Canada. Science of the Total Environment, 571, 251-258.
- Hou, C., & Amunugama, K. (2015). On the complex relationship between energy expenditure and longevity: Reconciling the contradictory empirical results with a simple theoretical model. Mechanisms of ageing and development, 149, 50-64.

- Hussain, R., Khan, A., Mahmood, F., Rehan, S., & Ali, F. (2014). Clinico-hematological and tissue changes induced by butachlor in male Japanese quail (Coturnix japonica). Pesticide biochemistry and physiology, 109, 58-63.
- Ighodaro, O. M., & Akinloye, O. A. (2018). First line defence antioxidants-superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase (CAT) and glutathione peroxidase (GPX): Their fundamental role in the entire antioxidant defence grid. Alexandria journal of medicine, 54(4), 287-293.
- Iwakiri, Y., & Kim, M. Y. (2015). Nitric oxide in liver diseases. Trends in Pharmacological sciences, 36(8), 524-536.
- Lavin, S. R., Karasov, W. H., Ives, A. R., Middleton, K. M., & Garland Jr, T. (2008). Morphometrics of the avian small intestine compared with that of nonflying mammals: a phylogenetic approach. Physiological and biochemical zoology, 81(5), 526-550.
- Li, S., Ma, Y., Ye, S., Tang, S., Liang, N., Liang, Y., & Xiao, F. (2021). Polystyrene microplastics trigger hepatocyte apoptosis and abnormal glycolytic flux via ROS-driven calcium overload. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 417, 126025.
- Liang, T., Lei, Z., Fuad, M. T. I., Wang, Q., Sun, S., Fang, J. K. H., & Liu, X. (2022). Distribution and potential sources of microplastics in sediments in remote lakes of Tibet, China. Science of the Total Environment, 806, 150526.
- López-Martínez, S., Morales-Caselles, C., Kadar, J., & Rivas, M. L. (2021). Overview of global status of plastic presence in marine vertebrates. Global Change Biology, 27(4), 728-737.
- Lovett, R. How birds are used to monitor pollution. Nature (2012). https://doi.org/10.1038/nature.2012.11848
- Maharajan, K., Muthulakshmi, S., Nataraj, B., Ramesh, M., & Kadirvelu, K. (2018). Toxicity assessment of pyriproxyfen in vertebrate model zebrafish embryos (Danio rerio): a multi biomarker study. Aquatic Toxicology, 196, 132-145.
- Malafaia, G., da Luz, T. M., Ahmed, M. A. I., Karthi, S., & da Costa Araújo, A. P. (2022b). When toxicity of plastic particles comes from their fluorescent dye: a preliminary study involving neotropical Physalaemus cuvieri tadpoles and polyethylene microplastics. Journal of Hazardous Materials Advances, 100054.
- Malafaia, G., da Luz, T. M., Ahmed, M. A. I., Karthi, S., & da Costa Araújo, A. P. (2022). When toxicity of plastic particles comes from their fluorescent dye: a preliminary study involving neotropical Physalaemus cuvieri tadpoles and polyethylene microplastics. Journal of Hazardous Materials Advances, 100054.

- Malafaia, G., da Luz, T. M., da Costa Araújo, A. P., Ahmed, M. A. I., Rocha-Santos, T., & Barceló, D. (2022a). Novel methodology for identification and quantification of microplastics in biological samples. Environmental Pollution, 292, 118466.
- Malafaia, G., da Luz, T. M., Guimarães, A. T. B., & da Costa Araújo, A. P. (2020). Polyethylene microplastics are ingested and induce biochemical changes in Culex quinquefasciatus (Diptera: Culicidae) freshwater insect larvae. Ecotoxicology and Environmental Contamination, 15(1), 79-89.
- Mattsson, K., Ekvall, M. T., Hansson, L. A., Linse, S., Malmendal, A., & Cedervall, T. (2015). Altered behavior, physiology, and metabolism in fish exposed to polystyrene nanoparticles. Environmental science & technology, 49(1), 553-561.
- Mattsson, K., Johnson, E. V., Malmendal, A., Linse, S., Hansson, L. A., & Cedervall, T. (2017). Brain damage and behavioural disorders in fish induced by plastic nanoparticles delivered through the food chain. Scientific reports, 7(1), 1-7.
- Morales, M., & Munné-Bosch, S. (2019). Malondialdehyde: facts and artifacts. Plant physiology, 180(3), 1246-1250.
- Morkūnas, J., Biveinytė, V., Balčiūnas, A., & Morkūnė, R. (2021). The broader isotopic niche of Long-tailed Duck Clangula hyemalis implies a higher risk of ingesting plastic and nonplastic debris than for other diving seabirds. Marine pollution bulletin, 173, 113065.
- Nam, K. B., Kim, M., Hong, M. J., & Kwon, Y. S. (2021). Plastic debris ingestion by seabirds on the Korean Peninsula. Marine Pollution Bulletin, 166, 112240.
- Nania, T. G., & Shugart, G. W. (2021). Are plastic particles reduced in size in seabirds' stomachs?. Marine pollution bulletin, 172, 112843.
- Nasr Zanjani, B., Samadi, A., Yilmaz Isikhan, S., Lay, I., Beyaz, S., Gelincik, A., ... & Arda, N. (2022). Plasma levels of oxysterols 7-ketocholesterol and cholestane-3β, 5α, 6β-triol in patients with allergic asthma. Journal of Asthma, (just-accepted), 1-12.
- Orme, C. D. L., Davies, R. G., Olson, V. A., Thomas, G. H., Ding, T. S., Rasmussen, P. C., ... & Gaston, K. J. (2006). Global patterns of geographic range size in birds. PLoS biology, 4(7), e208.
- Peper, A. (2009). Aspects of the relationship between drug dose and drug effect. Dose-response, 7(2), dose-response.
- Peres-Neto, P. R., Jackson, D. A., & Somers, K. M. (2005). How many principal components? Stopping rules for determining the number of non-trivial axes revisited. Computational Statistics & Data Analysis, 49(4), 974-997.

- Piehl, S., Hauk, R., Robbe, E., Richter, B., Kachholz, F., Schilling, J., ... & Schernewski, G. (2021). Combined approaches to predict microplastic emissions within an urbanized estuary (Warnow, southwestern Baltic Sea). Frontiers in Environmental Science, 9, 41.
- Rangasamy, B., Malafaia, G., & Maheswaran, R. (2022). Evaluation of antioxidant response and Na+-K+-ATPase activity in zebrafish exposed to polyethylene microplastics: Shedding light on a physiological adaptation. Journal of Hazardous Materials, 426, 127789.
- Reynolds, C., & Ryan, P. G. (2018). Micro-plastic ingestion by waterbirds from contaminated wetlands in South Africa. Marine pollution bulletin, 126, 330-333.
- Roman, L., Lowenstine, L., Parsley, L. M., Wilcox, C., Hardesty, B. D., Gilardi, K., & Hindell, M. (2019). Is plastic ingestion in birds as toxic as we think? Insights from a plastic feeding experiment. Science of the Total Environment, 665, 660-667.
- Ryan, P. G. (1988). Effects of ingested plastic on seabird feeding: evidence from chickens. Marine pollution bulletin, 19(3), 125-128.
- Sampaio, D. M. R., Estrela, F. N., de Oliveira Mendes, B., da Costa Estrela, D., Montalvão, M. F., Mesak, C., ... & Malafaia, G. (2019). Ingestion of tannery effluent as a risk factor to the health of birds: A toxicological study using *Coturnix coturnix japonica* as a model system. Science of The Total Environment, 681, 275-291.
- Sanchez, W., Burgeot, T., & Porcher, J. M. (2013). A novel "Integrated Biomarker Response" calculation based on reference deviation concept. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 20(5), 2721-2725.
- Shruti, V. C., Pérez-Guevara, F., & Kutralam-Muniasamy, G. (2021). The current state of microplastic pollution in the world's largest gulf and its future directions. Environmental Pollution, 291, 118142.
- Silveira, E. D. R., Benvindo-Souza, M., Assis, R. A., Dos Santos, C. G. A., de Lima Amorim, N. P., Borges, R. E., ... & de Souza Santos, L. R. (2022). Micronucleus and different nuclear abnormalities in wild birds in the Cerrado, Brazil. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 29(10), 14279-14287.
- Sinha, A. K. (1972). Colorimetric assay of catalase. Analytical biochemistry, 47(2), 389-394.
- Souto, H. N., de Campos Júnior, E. O., Campos, C. F., Rodrigues, T. S., Pereira, B. B., & Morelli, S. (2018). Biomonitoring birds: the use of a micronuclei test as a tool to assess environmental pollutants on coffee farms in southeast Brazil. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 25(24), 24084-24092.

- Spear, L. B., Ainley, D. G., & Ribic, C. A. (1995). Incidence of plastic in seabirds from the tropical pacific, 1984–1991: relation with distribution of species, sex, age, season, year and body weight. Marine Environmental Research, 40(2), 123-146.
- Stefánsson, H., Peternell, M., Konrad-Schmolke, M., Hannesdóttir, H., Ásbjörnsson, E. J., & Sturkell, E. (2021). Microplastics in glaciers: first results from the Vatnajökull ice cap. Sustainability, 13(8), 4183.
- Steinbacher, P., & Eckl, P. (2015). Impact of oxidative stress on exercising skeletal muscle. Biomolecules, 5(2), 356-377.
- Svihus, B. (2011). The gizzard: function, influence of diet structure and effects on nutrient availability. World's Poultry Science Journal, 67(2), 207-224.
- Svihus, B. (2011). The gizzard: function, influence of diet structure and effects on nutrient availability. World's Poultry Science Journal, 67(2), 207-224.
- Teodorak, B. P., Ferreira, G. K., Scaini, G., Wessler, L. B., Heylmann, A. S., Deroza, P., ... & Streck, E. L. (2015). Acute administration of fenproporex increased acetylcholinesterase activity in brain of young rats. Anais da Academia Brasileira de Ciências, 87, 1389-1395.
- Trestrail, C., Nugegoda, D., & Shimeta, J. (2020). Invertebrate responses to microplastic ingestion: Reviewing the role of the antioxidant system. Science of The Total Environment, 734, 138559.
- Van Franeker, J. A. (2004). Save the North Sea Fulmar-Litter-EcoQO manual part 1: collection and dissection procedures (No. 672). Alterra.
- Walia SS, Walia US (2021). Crop management. 2nd Ed. Scientific Publishers (Ind.).
- Wang, L., Nabi, G., Yin, L., Wang, Y., Li, S., Hao, Z., & Li, D. (2021). Birds and plastic pollution: recent advances. Avian Research, 12(1), 1-9.
- Wootton, N., Reis-Santos, P., & Gillanders, B. M. (2021). Microplastic in fish–A global synthesis. Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries, 31(4), 753-771.
- Yan, Z., Zhao, H., Zhao, Y., Zhu, Q., Qiao, R., Ren, H., & Zhang, Y. (2020). An efficient method for extracting microplastics from feces of different species. Journal of hazardous materials, 384, 121489.
- Yang, L., Wang, J., Cheke, R. A., & Tang, S. (2021). A universal delayed difference model fitting dose-response curves. Dose-Response, 19(4), 15593258211062785.
- Yang, Z., Lü, F., Zhang, H., Wang, W., Xu, X., Shao, L., ... & He, P. (2022). A neglected transport of plastic debris to cities from farmland in remote arid regions. Science of The Total Environment, 807, 150982.

- Yu, L. H., Luo, X. J., Liu, H. Y., Zeng, Y. H., Zheng, X. B., Wu, J. P., ... & Mai, B. X. (2014). Organohalogen contamination in passerine birds from three metropolises in China: geographical variation and its implication for anthropogenic effects on urban environments. Environmental Pollution, 188, 118-123.
- Zaheer, J., Kim, H., Ko, I. O., Jo, E. K., Choi, E. J., Lee, H. J., ... & Kim, J. S. (2022). Pre/postnatal exposure to microplastic as a potential risk factor for autism spectrum disorder. Environment International, 161, 107121.
- Zhang, Y., Gao, T., Kang, S., Shi, H., Mai, L., Allen, D., & Allen, S. (2022). Current status and future perspectives of microplastic pollution in typical cryospheric regions. Earth-Science Reviews, 103924.
- Zhao, S., Zhu, L., & Li, D. (2016). Microscopic anthropogenic litter in terrestrial birds from Shanghai, China: Not only plastics but also natural fibers. Science of the Total Environment, 550, 1110-1115.
- Zhao, S., Zhu, L., & Li, D. (2016). Microscopic anthropogenic litter in terrestrial birds from Shanghai, China: Not only plastics but also natural fibers. Science of the Total Environment, 550, 1110-11



MATERIAL SUPPLEMENTARY

Figure S1. Heat map of correlations between biochemical parameters evaluated in the liver of an adult female Japanese quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*). MDA: malondialdehyde; SOD: superoxide dismutase; ROS: reactive oxygen species.

